The Museum of Islamic and Near
Eastern Cultures opened its doors

in 2014 in a historic Ottoman-era
mosque in Be'er Sheva.

In the courtyard is a permanent
display of a selection of Muslim
archaeological finds from Israel,
dating from the Umayyad period
(661-750 CE) to the Ottoman period
(1517-1917 CE), while the museum’s
interior hosts temporary exhibitions.
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History of the Building

The mosque was built in 1906 as part of a group of Ottoman government
buildings, including the Saraya (which in Turkish means: government offices)
and the governor’s house, now The Negev Museum of Art. The structures were
grouped together on the road leading to the city center.

The mosque was built diagonally to the street, in keeping with the direction of
prayer to Mecca. The Arab journalist, historian, politician and public figure ‘Aref
al-‘Aref, who was district administrative officer of Be'er Sheva region in the 1930s,
describes the mosque’s minaret in his book The History of Be'er Sheva and its
Tribes: "Its tower was built of stones brought from the ruins of Halasa. In terms of
engineering, the building is considered the ultimate in sophistication.”

According to the written sources, the mosque’s construction was not without its
difficulties. Hajj Hamed Abu Taha, a member of a Bedouin family of builders from
Tel Sheva, told scholar of Bedouin tradition Sasson Bar-Zvi in an interview that
when the mosque had been constructed to the height of one meter, the governor
arrived and asked the contractor: ™
answered: ‘A mosque..." He replied: ‘This building you have built is not a mosque

What are you building here?’ The contractor

"

but a caravansary for animals. Demolish everything you have built..."” According
to this testimony, “the contractor demolished the building and began to rebuild
it. The kaymakam (governor) laid the cornerstone of the mosque with his own

hands. After this, a Christian builder was brought from Jerusalem...and he built it.”

During the British Mandate (1917-1948) the mosque continued to serve as
a central religious building, attracting Muslims from throughout the region. In
October 1948 Be'er Sheva was conquered by the Palmach’s Eighth Brigade and in
1950 the Jewish city of Be'er Sheva was founded. From 1948 to 1953 the mosque
was used as a jail and magistrate’s court. In 1953 it became an archaeological
and ethnographic museum with displays reflecting life and culture in the Negev.

In 1992 the building was declared unsafe and was closed, after which the Be'er
Sheva municipality began conservation and construction to reinforce it. After the
work was completed the municipality wanted to turn it into an archaeological
museum again. However, the Association for the Assistance and Protection of
Bedouin Rights, the Muslim Committee in the Negev and other groups sought to
restore it to its original use as a mosque. They launched a public campaign to this
end, including a petition to the High Court of Justice. In June 2011, the High Court
ruled that the structure must "be designated a museum devoted specifically to
Islamic and Near Eastern cultures.”



The Mosque Structure - Plan and Decor

The building continues a long and splendid tradition of Ottoman mosques. These
typically feature a large central dome, numerous windows to admit natural light,
a tall minaret with a balcony, and an enclosed prayer hall. Compared to mosques
built in Istanbul, this building is small; its construction materials (local stone)
and its modest decor are in keeping with other Ottoman buildings in Palestine.

The structure includes an enclosed hall, an open courtyard, a minaret, offices
and classrooms. A roofed balcony with four pointed arches, which opens onto
the courtyard, leads to the enclosed hall. The hall is divided into nine bays,
and is roofed with a central dome above the main bay. The dome is built over a
high drum. The space is illuminated by numerous windows — eight in the central
drum and twenty-five in the walls. The latter are arranged in groups of three: two
elongated windows and a round one above them. The Qibla wall contains the
prayer niche (mihrab), which marks the direction of prayer toward Mecca in the
Arabian peninsula.

The structure is decorated with special Islamic motifs, among them, for example,
the stalactite-like, gradated stone elements called muqarnas. These elements are
adorned with a shell motif typical of Turkish architecture.

Above the entrance doorway in the building's facade is the tughra (monogram) of
Abdul Hamid Il (1842-1918), the Ottoman sultan during whose rule the mosque

was built. The tughra, which was the Ottoman ruler’s calligraphic signature, was
imprinted on coins, stamps, correspondence and other official documents.
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The Permanent Display

In the museum courtyard are archaeological finds from the Muslim period in our
country. These include typical examples of architectural ornamentation in Islamic
art: vegetal motifs, geometric motifs and script.

To the right of the main entrance to the courtyard, five stone items decorated with
vegetal motifs are on display. These stones were found in the excavations
of the Umayyad palace at al-Minya, northwest of the Sea of Galilee. Vegetal
decoration was common during the Umayyad period and was a key motif in
Islamic art.

In the center of the courtyard is a fountain, which was designed and builtin 2013
by the Armenian ceramic artist Arman Darian from Jerusalem. Armenian ceramic
art in Jerusalem has its roots in the Ottoman Turkish ceramic tradition which is
clearly manifest in the fountain’s design. Its colorful tiles are decorated with
arabesques — a key motif in Islamic art.

The arabesque, a vegetal motif that developed in the tenth century, includes
a half palmette (palm leaf) and a winding stem. The arabesque covers entire
spaces in a repeating scrolling pattern of interlaced vines, blossoms and leaves.
This creates a sense of harmony, with no division into primary and secondary
elements, center or margins. The motif represents the beauty of creation and its
rhythmic scrolling pattern reflects the cycle of life.

Along the northern courtyard wall are five items carved with Arabic inscriptions.
Arabic calligraphy, the visible expression of the art of the spoken word, holds
a key place in Islamic culture. Proverbs and passages from the Quran, Islam's
divinely-revealed religious text written in classical Arabic, are found in many
examples of Islamic art.

The inscribed pillar is a tombstone found in the Banu Abi al-Sari Cemetery in
Ashkelon.[6]The inscription includes blessings of God and the prophet Muhammad
as well as the death date of the deceased: "In the month of Rabi Il, the year 490, on
Friday the fourth of that month" (of the Hijra* — March 21, 1097 CE).

Near the pillar are four inscribed stones. The one in the middle is of great
importance. According to expert Dr. Omar Abed Rabo, the pillar was installed
at the command of the vizier ‘Al-Mamun al-Bathihi, who instructed his servant

* The Islamic calendar begins with the first day
of the year of the Hijra, which is July 16, 622 CE.



(“his Mamluk,” whose full name is not mentioned), to build a tomb for the tenth
Fatimid caliph, al-Mansur Abu Al[i] Al-Imam, known by his title al-Amir bi-ahkam
Allah (ruled 1101-1130 CE/AH 495-520).

The finding of this inscription is intriguing because the vizier it mentions had
rebelled against the caliph and was executed in Cairo five years before the
caliph died. The question of when the inscription was engraved, under what
circumstances and how and why it reached Ashkelon has yet to be resolved.
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1 In the name of Allah, the compassionate : -QEL L«P.;ﬁif

and the merciful, has ordered the construction of
2 The tomb of our Lord and Master
(mawlana wa-sayyiduna) al-Mansur Abu “Al[i]
3 Al-Imam al-Amir bi-Ahkam Allah, Commander
of the Faithful
The blessing of Allah upon him and upon his pure ancestors
[And] his noble descendants, the Exalted Master al-Mamun
The Commander of the armies, the sword of Islam, the helper
of the Imam
7 Protector of the Qadis [judges] of the Muslims and the Guide
of the missionaries
8 of the Believers. May Allah support the religion through him
and benefit (the believers) from the lengthening of his life
9 The work was accomplished by his mamluk, the amir the mawla
10 [supporter (?) of (?)] the monarchy, sword of the state
11 [..][support] (?) of (?) Amir al-Muminin
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The other three inscriptions were placed on buildings. The first (7] was found at
the base of the south-west tower in the Jerusalem Citadel. It mentions the amir
Malik al-‘Adil Abu Bakr bin Ayyub (the prominent military leader and Ayyubid
ruler 1145-1218 CE): "The esteemed lord... the king al-‘Adil Abu Bakr son of
Ayyub may God prolong his reign... [on] the 14th [of the month of] Safar year six
hundred and... [of the Hijral.” Apparently the stone came to this place from the
ruins of the city wall or the citadel.

In the second, L8] are five lines in Kufic calligraphy (ancient Arabic script
originating in the city of Kufa, Irag). This inscription marking the foundation of

the building, mentions the name of the individual who commissioned it, the
person responsible for the construction of the building it adorned and the date of
the construction: "Ordered construction of this building... Nasr son of al-Hussein
under the care of ..Abdallah al-khattab in the year 484" (1106 CE). The third
inscription includes the name Jaffa, written in Thuluth (a curling Islamic font).

To the left of the group of inscriptions are two pieces of Ottoman-era carved
marble decorated with vegetal designs; both feature flower patterns.
During the Ottoman period (1517-1917), European influence fostered significant
change in Muslim vegetal decoration, with wreaths of naturally depicted flowers
and vases now appearing alongside abstract arabesques.

In the roofed area of the patio is a mosaic floor from Ramla dating to the 10th or
the 11th century CE. It features a geometric motif of four interlocking squares
with a pomegranate in the center. The pomegranate motif is common throughout
this country, in Byzantine churches, synagogues and in Umayyad architectural
decoration. It symbolizes fertility, abundance and economic prosperity.



The Early Islamic Period in the Land of Israel

The Umayyad Caliphate (661-750 CE)
The Abbasid Caliphate (750-1258 CE)

Islam was founded in the Arabian Peninsula by the Prophet Muhammad (570-
632 CE). In his early adult years Muhammad was a merchant. According to the
Islamic faith, when he was 40 years old and secluded in the mountains, the
angel Gabriel appeared to him and charged him with spreading the word of Allah
through the Quran.

The Early Islamic period in the Land of Israel is divided into a number of sub-
periods. The first period saw the country’s conquest (634-640 CE) under “the
rightly guided caliphs” (al-Khulafau al-Rashidun, 631 to 661 CE).

With the rise of the Umayyad dynasty in 661 CE, its capital was established in
Damascus. At first, the new rulers continued the patterns of government of their
Byzantine predecessors. Caliph ‘Abd al-Malik (who ruled between 685 and 705
CE and is known as the builder of the Dome of the Rock in Jerusalem) brought
significant reforms to the empire and consoldited the Arabic language and Islamic
culture in our region.

When the Abbasids came to power they moved the capital of the caliphate from
Damascus to Baghdad and the Land of Israel became a distant province. Abbasid
rule continued in Irag from 750 to 1258 CE (the Mongolian conquest). However,
the caliphate actually began to split into dynasties and states as early as the
mid-ninth century. These processes also began in Greater Syria (al-Sham), and
included the Land of Israel.

The process of separation from the Abbasid caliphate began in the Land of Israel
with the rise of the Tulunid dynasty in Egypt in 868 CE. In 878 CE the Tulunids
conquered the Land of Israel and thereafter, until the 16th century, with the
exception of a brief period, the fate of this country was tied to Egyptian rule. This
had significant geopolitical implications.

The important components of Islamic art were established during the Early Muslim
period — vegetal and geometric motifs and calligraphy. Excavations in Israel have
unearthed spectacular vessels from this period, which were manufactured in the
capitals of the Muslim empire.

The Crusaders
The Crusader Period (1099-1291 CE)

The Holy Land was conquered by the Crusaders and reverted to Christian rule
with the establishment of the Crusader Kingdom of Jerusalem in 1099, which
became an important political entity for the 200 years that followed. During
this time the country prospered thanks to state-sponsored construction and the
development of manufacturing and commerce in the coastal cities. The Crusaders
brought with them a European construction style and blended it with the local
Eastern style.

Renewed Muslim Rule

The Ayyubid Dynasty (1187-1260 CE)
The Mamluk Dynasty (1260-1517 CE)
The Ottoman Empire (1517-1917 CE)

In 1187 the Muslims, led by the Ayyubid Sultan Saladin (Salah al-Din) (1137/8-
1193 CE), defeated the Crusaders at the Horns of Hattin in the Lower Galilee, and
Islamic rule was restored to Jerusalem. For a brief time thereafter the country was
divided: the Crusader portion was limited to a strip of coast, with the capital at
Acre, and the interior was ruled by the Ayyubids from their capital in Cairo.

In the mid-13th century, the Mamluks deposed the Ayyubid dynasty. After taking
over the country in 1260 CE, they laid waste to the Crusader coastal cities.
By 1291, the Mamluks had destroyed the remaining Crusader strongholds,
building numerous structures over the ruins of Crusader buildings to prove the
preeminence of Islam.

In 1517 the Ottomans ruled the country from their capital, Constantinople
(Istanbul), focusing initially on construction in Jerusalem. The late 19th century
saw increased Ottoman engagement in the Negev as well. In 1887, following an
internal dispute among the Bedouin tribes, the Ottoman government was drawn
into the internal affairs of the region. This involvement strengthened Turkish
control of the area. After Ottoman civil servant Ismail Kemal Bey was appointed
district governor, a decision was taken to establish a capital city — Be'er Sheva.
The first step was to purchase lands from the local Bedouin tribes. The city was
planned by dividing the land into square blocks and intersecting streets. The
first public building in the city was the Saraya (government offices). Other public
buildings were then built to house the army and the police. In 1904 the second
phase of the city’s construction began with the building of the governor’s house,
a school for Bedouin children, a market and a mosque.
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